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NAME OF PLACE:  EMBASSY MANSIONS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Previous/alternative name/s  :  Jaybee Buildings; Embassy Place 
 
LOCATION: Street   :  Bree 

Street number  :  240 
 Stand Number  :  1/1255 
 Previous Stand Number:  by 1925 - 1017 

Block number  :  AR 
GIS reference  :   

 
ZONING: Current use/s  :   

Previous use/s  :   
 
DESCRIPTION OF PLACE:   
 
Height    :   
Levels above street level :  eight 
Levels below street level :  one 
On-site parking   :   
 
A detailed architectural history of the building remains outstanding on account of the incompleteness 
of its plans record. 
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Top left and right:  extracts from two different municipal submission drawings, showing the Bree Street elevation 
of the proposed building.  Both drawings are dated March 1929.  The drawing on the left was signed on 23 March 
1929 and the one on the right, on 8 May 1929, by the City Engineer..  As no other elevation plan could be found, it 
remains difficult to confirm which of these elevation plans was eventually implemented. 
 
The original owners first contemplated erecting a ten-storey building exceeding the 100 feet height 
restriction.  James C. Cook, the architect placed the necessary advertisements in the Star (See 
GENERAL NOTES, letter 25th January 1929 and copy of newspaper clipping).  The set of plans 
mentioned in the letter does however, not form part of the extant plans record of the building.  
Although these plans were submitted (their receipt on 19 January 1929 was acknowledged on the 
completed Application for Approval of Plans form), there is no indication that they were ever 
approved.  See GENERAL NOTES for copies of letters dated 15 April and 4 May 1929).  The design was 
abandoned, resulting in the development of new drawings, including elevation plans.   
 
See INTEGRITY. 
 
Basement: storage area. 
 
Ground floor: large shop with stall board lights; separate entrance to residential floors with a 

generous vestibule; swing doors leading to a broad corridor and entrance hall, ending 
at a lift lobby (single lift) and stairs;, the entrance to the rear of the building was 
located beyond the entrance hall in a narrow passage.  Situated to the rear of the 
building was an ablution block with two W.C.s. 

 
First floor: show room. 
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Second to sixth floor: residential area – four bachelor flats to front of building, two with bay 
 windows and two with balconies; two bachelor flats to rear of building; 
 Living Room, Bed recess all with wood floors, kitchen and bathroom with 
 grano floors. 
 
Roof:  Motor Room; W.C. and shower; staff quarters and box room. 
 
Below:  extract from “Revised Plan of Cornice & Balcony” dated November 1929.  Architects:  J.C. Cook & Cowen, 
signed by John Shaw. 
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Below:  extract from municipal submission plans (1929) showing the Block Plan to Bree Street, the back section 
formed part of the Union Club Building. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS:  
 
Walls:  exterior and internal walls of hard-burnt brick. 
 
Roof:  originally tiles and corrugated galvanized iron on king post with fink truss to main 
  building, as well as queen post truss with tie beam in the west section of the building. 
 
Windows: steel frame with parliament hinges to all windows above ground level. 
 
Floors:  granolithic finish to basement, ground and first floors; upper storeys unknown. 
 
SITE FEATURES: 
 
ALTERATIONS: 
 
Alterations and additions to the Basement, Ground and First Floor, these were converted to the 
Embassy Club for Messrs Landau Bros.  See letter 30 November 1932. 
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Basement: converted to Dance Room; new wood stairs; new interior walls and new store. 
 
Ground Floor: new recessed main entrance with three show cases; new Cloak Room with counter Flap 
and new steps; new office; new wood stair and turned baluster railing; doors to new positions; 
sections of floor removed; new Teak Kitchen with sink; new members Cloaks for gents. 
 
First Floor: new partitioning; two large undesignated areas; one with a single general office with 
counter and brass grille and single private office. 
 
Date on plan – November 1932; approved – 15 December 1932; estimated cost – building £400; 
drainage £25; architect – J G Carmichael (address 71-74 Winchester House, 2nd Floor, corner 
Loveday & Main Streets). 
 
New interior partitioning to the First Floor for Jaybee Buildings (Pty) Ltd.  This area now contains four 
small and one large Dance Studio; entrance lobby with corridor and Ladies Cloaks.  Approved 28 
January 1934; estimated cost – building £100. 
 
Alterations for Nugget Piano Saloon:  approved 20 September 1937; estimated cost – building £200; 
architects - J.C. Cook & Cowen. 
 
It appears that major alterations and additions were carried out to the building between 1968 and 
1970.  The relevant municipal submission plans are missing.  It is believed that these changes (see 
below) drastically affected the integrity of the building. 
 
Approval of plans – 10 October 1968; estimated cost – building R7500; drainage R500; Authors A.R. 
Smith, Elk and Fisher. 
 
Approval of plans – 16 April 1970; estimated cost – building R7000; drainage R1000; architect – S.J. 
Lees (address 211 Montrose House, 36 Pritchard Street). 
 
INTEGRITY: 
 
The removal of the gable roof to make way for an additional storey, as well as the removal of the 
balconies, ruined a once beautifully proportioned building.  The building was left projecting a ‘top-
heavy’ image – the result of the introduction of blatantly unsympathetic design elements.  In an effort 
to ‘modernize’ the building, most of the original ornamentation was removed from the main façade, 
including the columns supporting the pavement hood. 
 
INSCRIPTION: 
 
ARCHITECT: 
 
J.C. Cook. 
 
BUILDER: 
 
CONSTRUCTION DATE: 
 
Date on plans :  March 1929 
Approval of plans :  8 July 1929 
Phase One completion date :  26 August 1929 
Completion date :  27 January 1931 
 
BUILDING STYLE: 
 
Johannesburg Late Modernist (1970s), i.e. subsequent to the alteration of the building during the 
latter part of the 1960s and early 1970s. 
 
BUILDING TYPE: 
 
Shop/s, club to street and residential building. 
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ENVIRONMENT: 
 
“Thus, all buildings of this period were put up flush with the pavement and on a rectangular 
groundplan [sic].  Moreover, the economic interests of the individual were more important than the 
overall aspect, as was shown by the differentials of height and façade articulations of the buildings.  
The highly individualistic treatment of buildings was particularly disturbing in the case of tall buildings 
erected in a low-rise environment.  Such buildings had unfinished lateral sides in which the light-
coloured grid pattern of the reinforced concrete frame was in sharp constrast [sic.] to the filled-in 
unplastered red brick panels.  These buildings not only betrayed a marked insensitivity to the visual 
aspect of the environment, but also highlighted the unilateral optimism of the owners (that other 
buildings constructed next door would soon make good the impairment of the general aspect) as well 
as their contempt for the historical building corpus of the city.”  (Van Der Waal, G-M.: From Mining 
Camp to Metropolis…).  As shown by accompanying photograph, the Embassy Place is a typical 
example of Van Der Waal’s statement; this insensitivity is clearly visible on the lateral wall adjacent to 
the historical as well as architecturally important Union Club Building (see AR-5). 
 
CONDITION: 
 
Fair. 
 
URGENT ACTION: 
 
SAHRA RECORD REGARDING ALTERATIONS, RENOVATIONS, RESTORATION:   
 
PROTECTION STATUS:  (under National Heritage Resources Act, 1999) 
 
General protection: Section 34(1) structure/s  
 
Formal protection: provincial heritage site 
 

national heritage site 
 

provisional protection 
 

heritage area 
 

listed in provincial heritage 
resources register 

 
Relevant Gazette Notice:   
 
Gazette description: 
 
FORMER PROTECTION STATUS: (under National Monuments Act, 1969) 
 
NOTES:   
 
DEEDS INFORMATION:  
 
Original ownership:  Messrs J & B Co. Ltd. 
By 1932: J B Buildings Pty (Ltd). 
By 1968: Jaybee Investment Pty (Ltd). 
By 1970: SAMCO (Pty) Ltd. 
 
PRE-HISTORY OF SITE: 
 
HISTORY: 
 
GENERAL NOTES: 
 
Estimated cost of building :  £21500 
Estimated cost of drainage :  £500 
Accommodation approved :  60 ‘Europeans’ and four ‘Natives’ 
Phase One valuation  :  £7000 
Valuation at completion  :  £23000 
Occupied   :  partially occupied 
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PREVIOUS TENANTS: 
 
By 1937:  Nugget Piano Saloon. 
 
By 1954:  Nugget Piano Saloon and Orpheum Club Billiard Saloon.  The Orpheum Theatre was previously situated 
at corner 160, 162 Jeppe and 61 Joubert Streets - see Pre-History: AF-2. 
 
By 1998:  Solutions Business & Secretarial College. 
 
CURRENT TENANT/S: 
 
SOURCES: 
 
For additional illustrative information, see relevant supplementary photo album in electronic format. 
 
See SOURCES DOCUMENT for information on sources consulted with reference to this document. 
 
RECORDED BY:   
 
Heritage Resources Management team Johann J and Catharina JM Bruwer. 
Unless otherwise indicated photographs by Catharina JM Bruwer. 
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